ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Anderson County
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 26 2013

S.C. Supreme Court

ROBERT EARLE RICKETTS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213611

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did trial counsel's failure to investigate and present an expert witness to challenge the state's theory of the case violate Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel where there was conflicting testimony as to who fired the fatal shot killing the decedent and wounding the decedent's sister?

STATEMENT

An Anderson County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the August 31, 1999 term of General Sessions for murder, assault and battery with intent to kill, assault with intent to kill, and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 759-766. Petitioner's case was called to trial on October 11, 1999 before the Honorable H. Dean Hall, and a jury. Assistant solicitor Druanne D. White appeared on behalf of the prosecution, and James "Skip" Goldsmith represented Petitioner. App. 1. On October 14, 1999, the jury found Petitioner guilty of all charges as indicted. App. 554, ll. 5-22. He was sentenced by the Honorable H. Dean Hall to life imprisonment for murder, twenty years consecutive for assault and battery with intent to kill, ten years concurrent for assault with intent to kill, and five years concurrent for the weapons charge. App. 558, ll. 9-24.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and an appeal was perfected by Joseph L. Savitz, III. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions. State v. Ricketts, Op. No. 2002-UP-235 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed March 28, 2002); App. 567.

On May 23, 2002, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 562-588. The State filed a return to this application dated October 5, 2004. App. 589-592. On March 9, 2005, Petitioner filed a memorandum in support of application for post-conviction relief. App. 594-603. By and through his counsel, Raymond Mackay, Petitioner filed a motion for an order allowing testing of certain evidentiary items on June 26, 2006, and an order allowing testing of certain evidentiary items was issued on January 22, 2008. App. 604-608; App. 609-610.

A telephonic deposition of Ara Nalbandian, a metallurgical evaluation expert, was conducted on November 11, 2009. App. 647-683. Assistant Attorney General A. West Lee represented the state, and Raymond Mackay represented Petitioner. App. 649. The state did not object to Nalbandian's qualification as an expert. App. 653, ll. 16-20.

The matter proceeded to an evidentiary hearing on June 15, 2010 before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 611-683. Assistant Attorney General A. West Lee represented the state, and Raymond Mackay represented Petitioner. App. 611. The deposition of Ara Nalbandian was admitted into evidence by Judge McIntosh at this hearing. App. 639.

A second evidentiary hearing was held on March 15, 2011 again before the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. App. 684-748. Assistant Attorney General David Spencer represented the state, and Raymond Mackay represented Petitioner. App. 684. By order dated March 28, 2012, Judge McIntosh denied Petitioner relief. App. 749-758.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel's failure to investigate and present an expert witness to challenge the state's theory of the case violated Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel where there was conflicting testimony as to who fired the fatal shot killing the decedent and wounding the decedent's sister.

Evidence at Trial

On the afternoon of June 21, 1999, Petitioner and his newly estranged wife, Renee Billadeau, were talking in her front yard when Renee's sisters, Dee Garrett and Dawn Billadeau, arrived. App. 320, ll. 6-21. Anticipating an altercation with Petitioner, Dawn had armed herself with a .357 Magnum revolver. App. 335, l. 23 – 335, l. 10; App. 319, ll. 8-24. Petitioner had a Browning .300 Winchester Magnum rifle in his vehicle. App. 414, ll. 10-12; App. 376, ll. 2-4.

Moments later, Petitioner and Dawn Billadeau were shooting at each other. The record contains conflicting accounts about who initiated the gunfight. According to the state's witnesses (Dee Garrett, Dawn Billadeau, Dana Ricketts, and Cory Ricketts), Petitioner pulled his rifle from the car without provocation, shot Dee in the leg, and then turned the gun on Renee, shooting her in the side, and killing her almost instantly. According to their account, Petitioner then turned the gun toward Dawn, who returned fire, shooting Petitioner in the right shoulder and the chin. App. 79, l. 2 – 81, l. 17; App. 135, l. 12 – 137, l. 17; App. 321, l. 8 – 323, l. 3; App. 336, l. 11 – 337, l. 15.

Petitioner, on the other hand, testified that Dawn shot at him as he was getting into his car to leave and that he returned fire in her general direction as he fell to the ground after being shot. App. 419, l. 24 – 421, l. 3. Petitioner's account is corroborated by a neighbor, Linda Gail White, who heard the firing of weapons and witnessed part of the incident. App. 229, l. 1 – 231, l. 6. An examination of Dawn's revolver revealed that she had fired five shots while three fired cartridge

cases recovered from the scene were identified as being fired by Petitioner's rifle. App. 381, ll. 13-20; App. 380, ll. 3-9.

Petitioner's defense at trial consistently remained that Dawn accidentally shot the decedent and her other sister during the exchange of gunfire and that Petitioner was acting in self-defense when he fired in Dawn's general direction. Trial counsel told the jury during opening statements that "the defense will prove that the killer, the person who fired the fatal shot, was her own sister, Dawn Billadeau . . ." App. 71, ll. 13-16. Petitioner testified that projectiles from Dawn's gun had inflicted injuries on the decedent and Dee. App. 437, ll. 16-24.

SLED Agent David Collins testified for the state as an expert in firearms examination. App. 375, ll. 14-18. He testified that he was unable to do any tool mark comparison testing with the bullet fragments recovered from the decedent's body during autopsy because the fragments were too small and too badly damaged. App. 382, l. 16 – 383, l. 4. The fragments were "unsuitable for identification with any firearm." App. 383, ll. 7-9. Therefore, the state's expert was unable to determine which gun, Petitioner's rifle or Dawn's revolver, the bullet fragments recovered from the decedent's body came from and, consequently, who fired the fatal shot.

Dr. Brett Woodard, the pathologist who conducted the autopsy on the decedent, testified that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the abdomen that caused massive destruction of the abdominal organs. App. 263, l. 24 – 264, l. 3. He further concluded that the weapon that killed the decedent "beyond a reasonable doubt" was a "high-velocity weapon, a hunting type rifle." App. 264, ll. 4-6. He explained that hunting rifles have more energy associated with the round than a handgun and, based on the decedent's injuries, including multiple tears in the spleen, kidneys, and liver, she would have had to have been shot with a high-powered rifle, not a handgun. App. 257, l. 15 – 259, l. 11.

Dr. Woodard's testimony went unchallenged by the defense who failed to present any of its own expert witnesses.

Evidence at PCR

During his testimony at the PCR hearing, Petitioner confirmed his defense at trial was that Dawn shot and killed the decedent and wounded Dee and that Petitioner only shot at Dawn in self-defense. App. 625, l. 24 – 626, l. 2; App. 630, l. 13 – 631, l. 9.

Petitioner testified that he retained trial counsel, James "Skip" Goldsmith, approximately five months before trial. He thinks he and his family paid Mr. Goldsmith around \$5,000 to \$6,000 before trial and after trial Petitioner gave Goldsmith the title to his Camaro. App. 626, l. 13 – 627, l. 8; App. 634, ll. 2-6.

Petitioner testified that he told Mr. Goldsmith to "have those bullets tested because they won't match my rifle.' I know it couldn't match my rifle. . . I asked him, I told him, I said, 'We need experts to get them bullets and test them, because I knowed they weren't going to come back to my rifle.'" App. 626, ll. 2-10. Petitioner stated that Goldsmith never sent any of the evidence to be evaluated by a forensic expert despite the fact Petitioner had requested he do so. Petitioner testified that Goldsmith told him they did not need an expert and that he was "going to the house." App. 628, ll. 9-15; App. 633, ll. 15-25. However, the state presented unchallenged evidence that the bullet that killed Petitioner's wife "would have been from a gun like mine" and Petitioner was subsequently convicted of all counts. App. 634, l. 23 – 635, l. 7.

Ara Nalbandian testified for Petitioner in a deposition that was admitted into evidence by Judge McIntosh. App. 639, ll. 7-13. Nalbandian was qualified as an expert in metallurgical evaluation without objection from the state. App. 653, ll. 16-20. He has a Bachelor's degree in mechanical engineering and a Master's degree in industrial management both from the University

of Rhode Island. App. 652, l. 22 – 653, l. 6. He has worked in the field of metallurgical evaluation for over thirty five years and has been qualified as an expert in court in metallurgical evaluation over ten times. App. 652, ll. 2-12; App. 653, ll. 7-15.

Mr. Nalbandian used a scanning electro microscope combined with energy dispersive x-ray spectroscopy to identify the chemical composition of one of the unfired rifle bullets used by Petitioner the day of the shooting, one of the unfired revolver bullets used by Dawn, and the two projectiles recovered from the decedent's body. This type of testing is "very accurate" and has been around for thirty five years, meaning it was available to the defense in 1999. App. 680, ll. 12-14; App. 656, l. 21 – 657, l. 15.

After conducting the testing, Nalbandian concluded that the rifle bullet was composed almost entirely of copper and nonmetallic materials, that the revolver bullet was composed of lead and tin, and that the two projectiles recovered from the decedent's body also consisted of lead and tin. App. 660, l. 5 – 661, l. 9; App. 664, l. 7 – 665, l. 3; App. 665, ll. 4-18. Based on these results, Nalbandian concluded that the bullet fragments recovered from the decedent's body *could not have come from the rifle bullet* because their materials are not consistent with each other. App. 665, l. 19 – 666, l. 14; App. 681, ll. 13-18.

Trial counsel Goldsmith also confirmed at the PCR hearing that his theory of the case at trial was that the decedent's sister, Dawn Billadeau, fired first intending to shoot Petitioner, but ultimately shooting and killing decedent. App. 698, ll. 1-17. When questioned whether he would have utilized the services of Mr. Nalbandian, trial counsel Goldsmith answered, "Absolutely, I would have used that expert. From a defense point of view, I don't have to prove my case beyond a reasonable doubt. I just have to introduce some doubt. And I would have utilized the services of this gentleman and introduced that report had it been available, absolutely." App. 704, l. 25 – 705, l. 7.

Goldsmith testified that at the time of trial he contemplated hiring some sort of ballistics expert to help neutralize the state's experts. App. 700, l. 2 – 701, l. 8.

Goldsmith cited financial reasons for not hiring an expert. He “absolutely could not hire an expert. There was no money to do that.” App. 707, ll. 4-5. Goldsmith testified that he was retained by Petitioner's family for a fee of \$15,000 and Petitioner was to pay all costs, but Goldsmith only ever received about \$2,000. He did not feel obligated under the retainer agreement to pay for any costs and he was not in a position to advance money for costs. “So I knew going in that there was no money to pay for an expert.” App. 700, ll. 8-19. Goldsmith admitted that at no time did he ask the court for financial assistance in hiring experts nor did he ask to be relieved as counsel for Petitioner's failure to comply with the retainer agreement. App. 708, l. 12 – 709, l. 14.

SLED Agent Jennifer Stoner was the last PCR witness. She testified for the state as an expert in trace evidence to counter the testimony of Mr. Nalbandian. App. 717, ll. 5-13. Agent Stoner has a Bachelor's degree in chemistry from California University of Pennsylvania. She completed the Criminal Justice Academy and an internship at SLED in the trace evidence department before being hired by SLED. Once hired by SLED, she completed a three year training program in trace evidence from 1998 until 2001. App. 714, l. 5 – 715, l. 20.

Agent Stoner testified that SLED utilizes several scanning electron microscopes to analyze metals. App. 715, l. 21 – 716, l. 21. SLED has had requests in the past to do bullet to bullet fragment comparisons trying to match a certain box of ammunition to a specific projectile. However, SLED refuses to do such testing because the ratios of lead to antimony even within a single box of ammunition can vary significantly and the testing would thus be unreliable. App. 718, l. 5 – 719, l. 2. Therefore, Agent Stoner concluded SLED would not have performed the type of testing Nalbandian performed in this case.

Stoner also testified that normally when one finds a projectile in a body at autopsy that projectile is the core of the bullet because the rest of the bullet usually breaks away in the process of being fired and impacting with an object or person. Because Nalbandian only x-rayed the outer portion of the projectile and did not break open the bullet to test its core, Agent Stoner had concerns about his results. App. 719, ll. 3-23.

Lastly, Agent Stoner claimed that Nalbandian did not perform the testing for a long enough period of time. When she performs such testing she usually collects data for two hundred seconds at a minimum to around fifteen hundred seconds at a maximum. However, Nalbandian only collected data for approximately fifty seconds. This also caused her some concern. App. 726, ll. 3-24.

Order of Dismissal

The PCR judge concluded trial counsel's performance was not deficient. It found trial counsel's performance during trial revealed considerable preparation and challenge to the state's evidence and that trial counsel could not have reasonably known that any benefit would have accrued to Petitioner from such testing. App. 756-757.

The PCR court also determined that Mr. Nalbandian's expert testimony was inconclusive as to the composition of the rifle bullet and that the state presented overwhelming evidence of guilt at trial. The court therefore concluded that Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of counsel and dismissed his application. App. 757.

Discussion

It is clear that justice was not served in this case and that Petitioner's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to the effective assistance of counsel were violated when trial counsel failed to properly investigate and retain an expert to combat the state's theory of the case where there was conflicting testimony as to who shot and killed the decedent.

In order to show ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, Petitioner must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984); see also Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688.

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove that counsel’s performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

Furthermore, the United States Supreme Court has held that “counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 691; See Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 642 S.E.2d 590 (2007) (finding “[w]ithout a doubt, [a] criminal defense attorney has a duty to investigate, but this duty is limited to reasonable investigation”) (internal quotation omitted). The United States Supreme Court has also held that “[i]n assessing the reasonableness of an attorney’s investigation, . . . a court must not only consider the quantum of evidence already known to counsel, but also whether the known evidence would lead a reasonable attorney to investigate further.” Wiggins v. Smith, 539 U.S. 510, 527 (2003).

In this case, trial counsel’s performance was deficient, as it clearly fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688. Trial counsel was aware of the