ALAN WILSON  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RECEIVED

JAN 17 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

January 13, 2014

The Honorable Daniel E. Shearouse  
Clerk, South Carolina Supreme Court  
PO Box 11330  
Columbia, SC 29211-1330

**RE: Robert Earl Ricketts v. State of South Carolina**  
**Appellate Case No.: 2012-213611**  
**Lower Court Case No: 2002-CP-04-1544**

Dear Mr. Shearouse:

Enclosed for filing are the original and six (6) copies of the **Return to Petition for Writ of Certiorari** in the above-referenced case. By copy of this letter we are serving the opposing counsel today.

Sincerely,

J. Walt Whitmire  
Assistant Attorney General

JWW/tb  
Enclosures

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

## ARGUMENT

**Certiorari is not warranted where the PCR Judge correctly found counsel's representation sufficient where the duty to investigate did not extend to consulting an expert in the obscure and maligned field of metallurgical evaluation. Furthermore, evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove that counsel's alleged deficiency resulted in prejudice where the PCR expert's examination was plagued by internal inconsistencies and inherent unreliability.**

Unpersuaded by a perceived duty of clairvoyance, the PCR judge correctly ruled counsel was not deficient for failing to consult an expert in metallurgical evaluation. For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)). "[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that makes particular investigations unnecessary." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 691, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). A decision "not to investigate must be directly assessed for reasonableness in all the circumstances,

applying a heavy measure of deference to counsel's judgments.” Id.

As a matter of initial impression, this Court should decline a substantive review of Petitioner’s appeal because Petitioner’s PCR expert’s field of expertise has been discredited by the Federal Bureau of Investigation among other credible experts in forensic science. Petitioner suggests this Court place an undo burden on defense attorneys to compel the expenditure of resources and time on consulting an expert witness whose field of expertise is either unknown or is considered too unreliable to accepted a valid forensic science. See Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (“This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial.”).

Certainly in the present case, it was objectively reasonable for counsel to rely on Agent Collin’s expert opinion that projectile fragments retrieved from Renee’s body were too badly damaged to allow for a ballistics examination. Agent Collins employed the predominant and accepted examination used to identify ballistics where a fired projectiles are compared to determine the source firearm. Poyner v. Murray, 964 F.2d 1404, 1418 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir.1992); and that the Constitution does not require attorneys to “shop around” for more favorable expert testimony.

Unpersuaded by a perceived duty of clairvoyance, the PCR judge correctly ruled counsel was not deficient for failing to consult an expert in metallurgical evaluation. Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove the .300 Winchester bullet standard was sufficiently unique in its chemical composition to warrant the metallurgical identification at issue in the present case. Even Petitioner’s expert Nalbandian recognized the ballistics

identification testing he espoused required a comparison to the materials utilized “as the basis of manufacture or production of that bullet.” (App.p.660, lines 17-18). However, Nalbandian’s presumption that the one live .300 Winchester round he analyzed is compositional identical to the bullet standard, not to mention the particular parent box of munitions purchased by Petitioner, is troubling. Agent Stoner correctly cautioned that identification of a projectile by electron scanned microspore was *per se* insignificant absent a finding that a bullet standard for the munition in question is “very unique.” Although Nalbandian harped on the density of copper in the single live .300 Winchester bullet’s jacket and external tip that he examined, he did not provide any basis of why the elemental composition was unique only to the .300 Winchester bullet. Nalbandian’s assumption rested on speculation and would have been exposed through the crucible of cross-examination at trial.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals recently echoed Agent Stoner’s concerns on utilizing metallurgical ballistics testing because of the inherent inability to ensure compositional consistency in the manufacture of a single box of munitions. United States v. Higgs, 663 F.3d 726 (4th Cir. 2011) cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 787, 184 L. Ed. 2d 583 (U.S. 2012) The Higgs Appellant argued his attorney was ineffective for failing to adequately discredit prosecution’s firearm expert that utilized metallurgical ballistics testing. Id. The court outlined the historical development of lead based munitions analysis and identification to its current state of disfavor.

From the late 1960s until at least 2004, CBLA was performed by the FBI to compare bullets found at or associated with a crime scene to bullets associated with a defendant, usually in cases where a fired bullet could not be

matched to a particular firearm because the firearm was not recovered or the fired bullets were too mutilated for comparison of physical markings. CBLA evidence, when introduced at trial, generally consisted of two components: (1) the scientific test used to measure the elemental composition of the lead in bullets; and (2) the conclusions drawn by the examiner based upon the similarities or differences in the elemental compositions of the compared bullets.

The primary source of bullet lead is recycled car batteries. Secondary lead smelters melt and mix the lead with smaller lead sources and other chemicals in large vats, and these smelters then harden the lead into a solid form suitable for sale to bullet manufacturers. The manufacturers, in turn, process the lead into bullets. Due to impurities in the source material and the changes that are made to it, the elemental composition of lead melts varies. Bullets that share the same elemental composition were deemed by CBLA examiners to be analytically indistinguishable, creating the inference that the compared bullets originated from the same lead melt.

The [Iowa State Study] specifically suggested that further research be done on bullet manufacturing, distribution, and usage, noting that “[b]ullets manufactured from different batches of raw material may end up in the same box of bullets; similarly bullets manufactured from the same batch can end up in different boxes” and that it had “been difficult from the limited data available to estimate the relative frequency of these events.”

Id., at 736. In the present case, Stoner testified that regardless of a bullet standard’s potential unique and identifiable compositional character, she further cautioned against Nalbandian’s method of identification by alchemy because of the possibility of variances in a single box of munitions. (App.p.718). Presenting an expert in the defunct expertise of metallurgical evaluation would have provided no additional benefit to Petitioner’s defense where counsel effectively cross-examined the State’s expert firearm’s examiner

to show that a recognized forensic ballistics examination failed to prove the origins of the fatal bullet that killed Renee. See Frasier v. State, 306 S.C. 158, 160-61, 410 S.E.2d 572, 573 (1991) (finding trial counsel was not deficient in failing to procure an expert witness to challenge DNA evidence presented at trial where the record established that counsel vigorously cross-examined the State's DNA experts and attacked the accuracy of the evidence). Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms.

Furthermore, evidence of probative supports the PCR judge's ruling that Petitioner failed to meet his burden to prove the second prong of the Strickland test – that he was prejudiced by counsel's performance. Agent Stoner's testimony exposed the numerous flaws in Nalbandian's findings that neutered any beneficial impact of presenting an expert in metallurgical evaluation. Presuming ballistics identification by metallurgical evaluation was accepted within the forensic community, Petitioner's expert neglected to examine the relevant part of the live .300 Winchester bullet. Agent Stoner testified “[w]hen you have a projectile found in a body at autopsy, you're getting what's in the core of that bullet because the rest of it usually breaks away in the process of being fired and going through what its hitting.” (App.p.719, lines 18-21). Significantly, Agent Stoner noted the S.C.M.'s x-ray could not penetrate the outer copper jacket of the bullet to retrieve the elemental compositional data of its inner core. (App.p.719).

Nalbandian's examination was subpar. Agent Stoner noted Nalbandian failed to meet industry standards in his analysis. First, Nalbandian's brief fifty second scan was

negligibly short. (App.p.726). Second, he operated the S.C.M. at an insufficiently weak voltage. (App.pp.728-29). Third, he erred in his recording and interpreting the data he collected. (App.pp.720-24).

Last evidence of probative value supports the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner's conviction was supported by overwhelming evidence of guilt. A "reasonable probability of a different result does not exist when there is overwhelming evidence of guilt." Geter v. State, 305 S.C. 365, 367, 409 S.E.2d 344, 346 (1991). Three eyewitnesses included two of Petitioner's children witness him execute Renee and shoot Dee prior to engaging in a gun fight with Dawn. Dee testified that Petitioner shot her. Audio tape recording that captured the offense were presented to the jury.

The pathologist identified the phenomena of "lead storming" unique only to a bullet fired from Petitioner's rifle here. Notably, Petitioner incurred superficial gunshot wounds from Ruger handgun compared to the catastrophic single gunshot wounds suffered by Dee and Renee. The pathologist was skeptical that a contact shot from a handgun had the capability of producing enough kinetic energy to produce the carnage noted in Renee's autopsy. Furthermore, the absence of GSR on Renee's body showed that fatal shot was fired from a distance of at least four feet. Simply, Petitioner's version of the facts was implausible. The solicitor's impeachment of Petitioner through his correspondence showed Petitioner's malingering on his claim of amnesia. No eyewitness corroborated Petitioner's story.

As Petitioner failed to meet this burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See

Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) (“The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.”).

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issue discussed above.